

Queensland Women's Safety and Justice Taskforce

Coercive Control Consultation Response

July 2021



Acknowledgement

Marie Stopes Australia acknowledges the Traditional Owners and Custodians of the land on which we live and work. We pay our respects to Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Elders past, present and emerging. We also acknowledge the enduring connection to their Traditional estates across Australia and to the ongoing passion, responsibility and commitment for their lands, waters, seas, flora and fauna as Traditional Owners and Custodians.

Publication details

Published by
Marie Stopes Australia (MSI Reproductive Choices)
GPO Box 1635, Melbourne VIC, 3001

© Marie Stopes Australia 2021



Contents

Acknowledgement	Z
Publication details	2
Introduction	4
Background	4
Consultation response	4
1. What other types of coercive controlling behaviours or risk factors used by perpetrators in domestic relationships might help identify coercive control?	5
2. What aspects of women's attempts to survive and resist abuse should be take into account when examining coercive control	
3. What should be done to improve understanding in the community about what 'coercive control' is and the acute danger it presents to women and to improve he people seek help or intervene?	ow
6. If you are a member of a mainstream service or represent a mainstream servi	
What training relevant to coercive control and domestic and family violence is currently available in your industry?	
b. How are you currently supporting victims of coercive control and domestic and family violence?	
c. What is working well?	8
d. What could be done better?	9
60. What other risks (not mentioned in the paper) are there in implementing legislation to criminalise coercive control?	9
61. Could the risks identified above be mitigated successfully by proper implementation or other means? If so, how?	. 10
64. Would requiring mainstream services (for example health and education service providers) to report domestic violence and coercive control behaviours improve the safety of women and girls?	
Options for legislating against coercive control	. 11
References	. 12



Introduction

The Women's Safety and Justice Taskforce (the Taskforce) is an independent taskforce that was established by the Queensland Government. The Taskforce will examine coercive control and review the need for a specific offence of domestic violence alongside the experience of women across the criminal justice system.¹

The Taskforce will make recommendations to the Attorney-General and Minister for Justice, Minister for Women and Minister for the Prevention of Domestic and Family Violence. It will recommend how 'best to legislate against coercive control as a form of domestic and family violence and the need for a new offence of "commit domestic violence" in October 2021, with additional recommendations expected in March 2022.

This submission has been written in response to Discussion Paper 1, 'Options for legislating against coercive control and the creation of a standalone domestic violence offence.' We would welcome any opportunity to speak publicly on this matter. To arrange a time for a hearing please contact Bonney Corbin, Head of Policy at bonney.corbin@mariestopes.org.au.

Background

Marie Stopes Australia is an independent, non-profit organisation dedicated to ensuring sexual and reproductive health services are equally accessible to all people living in Australia. Marie Stopes Australia is the only national accredited provider of abortion, contraception and vasectomy services, and is the country's longest running provider of teleabortion. Our holistic, client-centred approach empowers individuals to control their reproductive health safely, and with dignity, regardless of their circumstances.

Through active partnerships with healthcare providers, researchers and communities, our models of care ensure the total wellbeing of our clients is supported at every stage. We currently have five clinics in Queensland and a state wide teleabortion service. We work collaboratively with, and are partly funded by, Queensland Health to support sexual and reproductive health access for all.

Consultation response

Coercive control is a form of gender-based violence that requires strategic prevention and response mechanisms across jurisdictions in Australia. This submission is structured to address selected questions in the discussion paper that intersect with sexual and reproductive healthcare provision.



A number of our partner organisations have made submissions to this consultation which we endorse, including Sisters Inside, Children by Choice, the Centre Against Domestic Abuse Inc and Women's Health Queensland. Regarding broader questions related to coercive control, Marie Stopes Australia supports any submissions and the position paper on coercive control by the Australian Women Against Violence Alliance.²

1. What other types of coercive controlling behaviours or risk factors used by perpetrators in domestic relationships might help identify coercive control?

Reproductive coercion is a form of violence with an extensive resource base of evidence. ³ Reproductive coercion is a form of coercive control, and is a risk factor for situations of family, domestic and sexual violence. Understandings of coercive control should incorporate the concept of reproductive coercion.

Reproductive coercion is defined as any behaviour that has the intention of controlling or constraining another person's reproductive health decision-making.⁴ Reproductive coercion can be towards or away from any pregnancy outcome, including abortion, adoption, care, kinship care or parenting.

Reproductive coercion can include:

- sabotage of another person's contraception.
- · pressuring another person into pregnancy.
- controlling the outcome of another person's pregnancy.
- forcing or coercing another person into sterilisation.
- any other behaviour that interferes with the autonomy of a person to make decisions about their reproductive health.

Reproductive coercion can be interpersonal, structural, or it can be a combination of both. Interpersonal reproductive coercion is more likely to occur within contexts of structural coercion. ⁶

Pregnancy can be the direct result of coercion, and can tie a woman or pregnant person to an abusive partner for their lifetime. It is critical that reproductive coercion be named to, at the very least, acknowledge a diversity of victim-survivor experiences.

2. What aspects of women's attempts to survive and resist abuse should be taken into account when examining coercive control

For women living in contexts of family, domestic and sexual violence, the fight to access sexual and reproductive healthcare is a form of survival and resistance.



Research shows that people accessing abortion care may be at higher risk of intimate partner violence than the general population.⁷

In an attempt to survive and resist reproductive coercion, victim-survivors may need to access healthcare for time bound treatment options. These treatments include sexual and reproductive healthcare like sexually transmitted infection (STI) screening, pregnancy options and contraceptive options. Abortion care has strict time constraints, increasing in complexity and risk with gestation. In Australia medical abortion is currently only able to be provided up to 9 weeks' gestation, after which surgical abortion is the primary option. Surgical abortion remains largely inaccessible in many regional, rural and remote areas of Queensland.

Sexual and reproductive healthcare in Australia remains grossly underfunded. When a victim-survivor wants to access abortion but cannot afford out of pocket costs, communities step in with crowdfund fundraising measures and by dipping into organisational reserves. Non-profit women's health centres, community centres and domestic and family violence support agencies fill a health funding gap in abortion care. These non-profit and community health services cannot afford to continue subsidising healthcare access, particularly in a pandemic.

3. What should be done to improve understanding in the community about what 'coercive control' is and the acute danger it presents to women and to improve how people seek help or intervene?

Relationships and sexuality education throughout the lifespan is critical, from early learning centres to palliative care. ⁸ Whilst education in school settings is core, there are many opportunities to educate beyond the classroom including in universities, workplaces, care institutions, community centres and community gathering spaces. Community led, culturally safe and age-appropriate education has the power to enable community based support and referral, and to prevent coercion and violence before it occurs.

Respectful relationships education in schools should be re-aligned alongside relationships and sexuality education to encompass protective behaviours, bodily autonomy, enthusiastic consent, pride in identity and culture and community responsive health care. This would better provide protective measures for children and young people to make informed decision-making and access networks of support, particularly if they or a peer were living in contexts of coercive control. ⁹



6. If you are a member of a mainstream service or represent a mainstream service provider:

a. What training relevant to coercive control and domestic and family violence is currently available in your industry?

The healthcare sector has a swathe of training options on sexual, domestic and family violence. However, learning outcomes can be inconsistent even though services need content tailored to their region and activities. There are increasing numbers of training options on coercive control and reproductive coercion. Like many health and hospitals services, Marie Stopes Australia designs and delivers a combination of in-house and external training as part of induction and continuing professional development requirements.

Ideally training should be tailored to respond to the unique sensitive enquiry and screening mechanisms that exist in each health service. It should equip all staff, including administration staff, with the relevant skills they need to move through all stages of identification, care, safety planning, and documentation. These mechanisms will always vary depending on the personalised needs of each patient, the type of healthcare provided, the type of healthcare facility involved and how much of the patient journey is digitised.

A number of community organisations including Children by Choice, Multicultural Centre for Women's Health, Women with Disability Australia, Women's Health Victoria and others also have related training and/or resources relevant to reproductive coercion. Ideally, longer term, training would be embedded within and delivered by public, private and community health services, including community centred approaches to incorporate perspectives of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people and others who have experienced systemic and historic structural reproductive coercion.

b. How are you currently supporting victims of coercive control and domestic and family violence?

Patients present at Marie Stopes Australia clinics with experiences of sexual and reproductive coercion. While the majority are women, some are men, some are trans, others are non-binary. It is important that any language on coercive control is reflective of this.

At Marie Stopes Australia, healthcare options counselling is available prior to all clinical appointments. Counselling records show that up to 32% of people who chose to access counselling were living in coercive contexts. This rate was higher for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people, up to 50% of whom were living in coercive contexts. This data is not indicative of overall prevalence, rather it demonstrates coercion identified at one point in a patient journey. There are other



contact points were coercion may also have been identified, which are not indicated here.

For patients who present with experience of coercion and violence, our administrative, counselling, nursing and clinical staff move through stages of identification, risk analysis, support, options counselling, safety planning, documentation and referral. We have a complex case management team that provides wrap around support and patient pathways. Responses will vary depending on each victim-survivor's personalised safety planning and healthcare needs.

We have people of all genders present to our clinics experiencing reproductive coercion towards or away from certain health procedures or pregnancy outcomes, including contraception, abortion, tubal ligation and vasectomy. People experiencing coercion may be seeking financial support to access healthcare, linked to poverty and financial hardship, often linked to unemployment and current economic insecurity. People who already have restricted bodily autonomy are facing uniquely coercive contexts, including people with disability, people on temporary visas, people who are incarcerated and people in state care.

As a non-profit healthcare provider, Marie Stopes Australia uses income from full fee-paying patients and philanthropic donations to provide bursaries to patients experiencing financial hardship. These measures support those patients to access the essential healthcare and services they want but could not otherwise afford. In the past two years the Choice Fund has provided in excess of \$850,000 worth of contraception and abortion services for women and pregnant people experiencing financial hardship. During the pandemic, the number of regular Choice Fund donors, philanthropists, and the size of their donations has dramatically reduced.

This level of hardship support is not financially sustainable. For the first time in many years, Marie Stopes Australia has had to turn away women and pregnant people experiencing financial hardship who cannot afford to access their choice of healthcare. Many patients experiencing financial hardship also rely on financial support from women's health centres and sexual, family and domestic violence services. These services fundraise to cover part or all of their patients' clinical care and/or travel costs.

c. What is working well?

Sensitive enquiry enables us to prevent and respond to coercive control and reproductive coercion in clinical settings. It supports us to tailor personalised care for each unique patient. Only when care is holistically seen as physical, mental, cultural, environmental and social can we properly embed sensitive enquiry.

In order to conduct person centred and informed decision making processes, our staff sensitive enquire about risk of harm from others, risk of harm to self and risk of harm to others.¹⁴ This enquiry process is critical to assess risk, enable space for



disclosure and to determine if informed consent can be granted. In addition to this, it enables us to consider and support patients in accessing relevant safety planning and referral pathways for ongoing care.

Any moves to criminalise coercion should be mindful of the risk of creating additional barriers for disclosure between a patient and their healthcare professional. This includes disruptions to sensitive enquiry and informed consent.

d. What could be done better?

Queensland needs to invest in sexual and reproductive healthcare strategy, policy, and healthcare provision. Foremost, the Queensland Sexual Health Strategy needs to expand content related to abortion and contraception care, considering intersection aspects of healthcare access and healthcare equity. In the context of coercive control, equitable access to health services would enable people at risk of coercion to have greater control over their own bodies and lives.

A long list of recommendations for reproductive coercion have been included in the Hidden Forces White Paper on Reproductive Coercion in contexts of family and domestic violence.¹⁵

60. What other risks (not mentioned in the paper) are there in implementing legislation to criminalise coercive control?

Coercive control should never be condoned. This is not to say that criminalisation is the answer. We need to move beyond police response to violence and instead look at holistic prevention and response mechanisms that benefit each and every member of our communities.

Criminalising reproductive coercion could lead to delayed presentations for sexual and reproductive healthcare. Sexual and reproductive health concerns can have chronic and intergenerational physical, mental and social health impacts ¹⁶. The risks of these health impacts increase with delayed or late presentations. Delayed presentation of people seeking treatment for STIs can lead to future infertility and congenital conditions. Delayed presentations of unintended pregnancy can lead to unsafe abortion and unwanted births. Delayed presentations of reproductive coercion can lead to anxiety, depression, heart disease, stroke, physical violence and homicide. Due to increased complexity and risk, delayed presentations can incur higher financial costs, adding to financial stress.

Criminalising reproductive coercion, like all aspects of coercive control, risks criminalising those who we intend to empower. For example, women in abusive relationships who don't want to proceed with their unplanned pregnancy and choose to have an abortion may have partners who approach our clinical staff claiming she is being coercive as he wants her to continue with the pregnancy. Alternatively,



sometimes a woman will come to our clinic for abortion care, a and as soon as she is alone with a clinical staff member she will tell us that her partner made her come even though she wants to continue with the pregnancy. Whilst we conduct safety planning to ensure women can access their chosen pregnancy option, and support their safe accommodation through to another specialist service provider, their partners in waiting rooms or waiting in cars outside clinics claim to be victims of coercion.

The criminalisation of coercive control risks reducing agency for people with disability, Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people, incarcerated people, and other intersections of oppression. It is critical that legislative reforms on coercive control do not risk increasing systemic discrimination or inequity.¹⁷ This includes considering reproductive coercion that is perpetrated by the state, in institutional care and under guardianship orders, where people have experienced coerced child removal, coerced long acting reversible contraception (LARC) and coerced sterilisation.

61. Could the risks identified above be mitigated successfully by proper implementation or other means? If so, how?

The health system has key responsibilities for the prevention of and response to coercive control. However, it lacks strategy, investment and resourcing. While health policy is led at the national level, implementation is often delegated to states and territories. Strengthening the implementation and measurement of national health policy documents requires state leadership and advocacy, of which Queensland is well placed to lead.

The *National Women's Health Strategy (2020-2030)* includes measures that prevent and respond to violence and coercion, yet is not adequately resourced. Priority Area 5 has a key measure of success to 'reduce the rate of reproductive coercion'. Since it was published, the pandemic has influenced regression rather than progression in healthcare access and equity.¹⁸ In addition to health policy, is critical that a *National Plan to Reduce Violence Against Women and Their Children* beyond 2022 be strategised, resourced and implemented to enable long term prevention, support and recovery.

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander populations need community-led, researched and funded initiatives. ¹⁹ Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander women are at higher risk of reproductive coercion than non-Indigenous women, and are more likely to experience barriers of access and equity when seeking sexual and reproductive health care. ²⁰

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander self-determination in the prevention of reproductive coercion is essential for broader health access, equity, agency and justice. Australia needs community-led, practical and structural reform that follows



through with the Uluru Statement from the Heart. The impact of the Voice could be significant for our organisation, and for others in the health sector. The experiences of COVID-19 pandemic preparedness, response and recovery has proven the benefits of investing in Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander health leadership and health services.²¹ The same should apply for investment in community led and controlled prevention of coercive control, including reproductive coercion.

64. Would requiring mainstream services (for example health and education service providers) to report domestic violence and coercive control behaviours improve the safety of women and girls?

No. The health sector is a critical space for disclosure and help seeking. Any moves to criminalise coercion should be mindful of the risk of creating additional barriers for disclosure between a patient and their healthcare professional. This applies to both victim-survivors and perpetrators of coercion. For example, how could a GP openly discuss prevention mechanisms with their patient who is at risk of perpetrating violence, knowing that it may lead to a mandatory report?

If investing in data collection and reporting, consider investment in measurement preventative mechanisms. For example, consider the number of students who have access to relationships and sexuality education, as well as respectful relationships education. Or the number of people who have access to sexual and reproductive healthcare including STI screening and contraception. Or the number of people who have had access to all pregnancy options, including abortion, adoption, kinship care and parenting; and the prevalence of barriers and enablers to those pregnancy options.

Options for legislating against coercive control

We offer caution to options 1, 2, 3, 7 and 10. It is critical that legislative reforms do not further criminalise our communities, in particular those already over represented in the prison system.

- Option 1 Utilising the existing legislation available in Queensland a more effectively.
- Option 2 Creating an explicit mitigating factor in the Penalties and Sentences Act 1992 (Qld) that will require a sentencing court to have regard to whether an offender's criminal behaviour could in some way be attributed to the offender being a victim of coercive control.
- Option 3 Amending the definition of domestic violence under the Domestic and Family Violence Protection Act 2012.
- Option 7 Creating a new offence of 'commit domestic violence' in the Domestic and Family Violence Protection Act 2012.
- Option 10 Amending the Evidence Act 1977 (Qld) to introduce jury directions and facilitate admissibility of evidence of coercive control in similar



- terms to the amendments contained in the Family Violence Legislation Reform Act 2020 (WA).
- Option 12 Amending the Dangerous Prisoners (Sexual Offenders) Act 2003 or creating a post-conviction civil supervision and monitoring scheme in the Penalties and Sentences Act 1992 for serious domestic violence offenders.
- Option 13 Amending the Penalties and Sentences Act 1992 to create 'Serial family violence offender declarations' upon conviction based on the Western Australian model.

We do not support options 4, 5, 6, 8, 9, 11, 12, 13. There is no need to expand or extend criminal code references to coercive control. Ending coercive control requires rethinking prevention, including how policing and justice systems risk reinforcing systemic aspects of coercive control.

- Option 4 Creating a new offence of 'cruelty' in the Criminal Code.
- Option 5 Amending and renaming the existing offence of unlawful stalking in the Criminal Code.
- Option 6 Creating a new standalone 'coercive control' offence.
- Option 8 Creating a 'floating' circumstance of aggravation in the Penalties and Sentences Act 1992 for domestic and family violence.
- Option 9 Creating a specific defence of coercive control in the Criminal Code.
- Option 11 Creating a legislative vehicle to establish a register of serious domestic violence offenders.

References

¹ Queensland Government (2021), About the Women's Safety and Justice Taskforce, viewed on 13 July 2021 at https://www.womenstaskforce.qld.gov.au/about-us.

Douglas, H., Sheeran, N. and Tarzia, L., 2020. Identifying and responding to reproductive coercion in a legal context: issues paper.

Griffiths, E., Atkinson, D., Friello, D. and Marley, J.V., 2019. Pregnancy intentions in a group of remote-dwelling Australian Aboriginal women: a qualitative exploration of formation, expression and implications for clinical practice. *BMC public health*, *19*(1), p.568.

Marie Stopes Australia (2020), Hidden forces: a white paper on reproductive coercion in contexts of family and domestic violence, second edition, at https://www.mariestopes.org.au/advocacy-policy/reproductive-coercion/.Price, E., Sharman, L.S., Douglas, H.A., Sheeran, N. and Dingle, G.A., 2019. Experiences of reproductive coercion in Queensland women. *Journal of interpersonal violence*, p.0886260519846851.

² Australian Women Against Violence Alliance (2021), Criminalisation of Coercive Control: Issues Paper, viewed on 28 January 2021 at < https://awava.org.au/2021/01/28/research-and-reports/criminalisation-of-coercive-control-issues-paper>.

³ Bateson, D.J., Black, K.I. and Sawleshwarkar, S., 2019. The Guttmacher–Lancet Commission on sexual and reproductive health and rights: how does Australia measure up? *The Medical Journal of Australia*, *210*(6), pp.250-252.



Tarzia, L., Wellington, M., Marino, J. and Hegarty, K., 2019. "A Huge, Hidden Problem": Australian Health Practitioners' Views and Understandings of Reproductive Coercion. *Qualitative health research*, *29*(10), pp.1395-1407.

- ⁴ Marie Stopes Australia (2020), Hidden forces: a white paper on reproductive coercion in contexts of family and domestic violence, second edition, at https://www.mariestopes.org.au/advocacy-policy/reproductive-coercion/.
- ⁵ Marie Stopes Australia (2020), Hidden forces: a white paper on reproductive coercion in contexts of family and domestic violence, second edition, at https://www.mariestopes.org.au/advocacy-policy/reproductive-coercion/.
- ⁶ Marie Stopes Australia (2020), Hidden forces: a white paper on reproductive coercion in contexts of family and domestic violence, second edition, at https://www.mariestopes.org.au/advocacy-policy/reproductive-coercion/.
- ⁷ Hall, M., Chappell, L.C., Parnell, B.L., Seed, P.T., & Bewley, S. (2014). Associations between Intimate Partner Violence and Termination of Pregnancy: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. PLoS Medicine, 11 (1), e1001581.
- ⁸ UN Women and UNICEF, 2018. *International technical guidance on sexuality education: an evidence-informed approach*. UNESCO Publishing viewed 28 July 2020 at https://www.unwomen.org/en/digital-library/publications/2018/1/international-technical-guidance-on-sexuality-education.
- ⁹ United National Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization (2018), Why Comprehensive Sexuality Education is Important, accessed via https://en.unesco.org/news/why-comprehensive-sexuality-education-important.
- ¹⁰ Marie Stopes Australia (2020), Hidden forces: a white paper on reproductive coercion in contexts of family and domestic violence, second edition, at https://www.mariestopes.org.au/advocacy-policy/reproductive-coercion/.
- ¹¹ An analysis of data related to 965 women and pregnant people who opted into pregnancy options counselling at Marie Stopes in 2018. In this data coercive contexts included when a person was pregnant due to sexual violence, when they had a partner who was unsupportive of pregnancy options counselling, and/or who identified that they were being coerced towards an abortion, adoption or parenting option that they would not choose themselves. Adapted from Our Watch (2020), Tracking Progress in Prevention, accessed via < https://www.ourwatch.org.au/resource/tracking-progress-in-prevention-full-report/>.
- ¹² An analysis of data related to 965 women and pregnant people who opted into pregnancy options counselling at Marie Stopes in 2018. In this data coercive contexts included when a person was pregnant due to sexual violence, when they had a partner who was unsupportive of pregnancy options counselling, and/or who identified that they were being coerced towards an abortion, adoption or parenting option that they would not choose themselves. Adapted from Our Watch (2020), Tracking Progress in Prevention, accessed via < https://www.ourwatch.org.au/resource/tracking-progress-in-prevention-full-report/>.
- ¹³ Marie Stopes Australia (2021), Situational Report: sexual and reproductive health rights in Australia, viewed 13 July 2021 at https://resources.mariestopes.org.au/SRHRinAustralia.pdf.
- ¹⁴ Hinsliff-Smith, K. (2020). Barriers and Opportunities to Effective Identification and Management of Domestic Violence and Abuse. In *Domestic Violence in Health Contexts: A Guide for Healthcare Professions* (pp. 65-75). Springer, Cham.
- ¹⁵ Marie Stopes Australia (2020), Hidden forces: a white paper on reproductive coercion in contexts of family and domestic violence, second edition, at https://www.mariestopes.org.au/advocacy-policy/reproductive-coercion/.
- ¹⁶ Isobel, S., Goodyear, M., Furness, T. and Foster, K., 2019. Preventing intergenerational trauma transmission: A critical interpretive synthesis. *Journal of clinical nursing*, *28*(7-8), pp.1100-1113.
- Kendall, S., Lighton, S., Sherwood, J., Baldry, E. and Sullivan, E.A., 2020. Incarcerated aboriginal women's experiences of accessing healthcare and the limitations of the 'equal treatment' principle. *International Journal for Equity in Health*, *19*, pp.1-14.



Menzies, K., 2019. Understanding the Australian Aboriginal experience of collective, historical and intergenerational trauma. *International Social Work*, 62(6), pp.1522-1534.

- ¹⁷ Walklate, S., & Fitz-Gibbon, K. (2019). The criminalisation of coercive control: The power of law?. *International journal for crime, justice and social democracy, 8*(4), 94.
- ¹⁸ Marie Stopes Australia (2021), Situational Report: sexual and reproductive health rights in Australia, viewed 22 January 2021 at https://resources.mariestopes.org.au/SRHRinAustralia.pdf.
- ¹⁹ Close the Gap Steering Committee (2019), Our Choices, Our Voices, accessed via https://www.humanrights.gov.au/our-work/aboriginal-and-torres-strait-islander-social-justice/publications/close-gap-report-our
- ²⁰ Marie Stopes Australia (2020), Hidden forces: a white paper on reproductive coercion in contexts of family and domestic violence, second edition, at https://www.mariestopes.org.au/advocacy-policy/reproductive-coercion/.
- ²¹ Eades, S., Eades, F., McCaullay, D., Nelson, L., Phelan, P., & Stanley, F. (2020). Australia's First Nations' response to the COVID-19 pandemic. *The Lancet*, *396*(10246), 237-238.